## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SHAWN WASHINGTON,	:	
Petitioner,	:	
VS.	:	CASE NO. 96,028
STATE OF FLORIDA,	:	
Respondent.	:	
	:	

#### AMENDED

## PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

I PRELIMINARY STATEMENT AND CERTIFICATION OF FONT AND TYPE SIZE

This is an appeal from the per curiam affirmance with citations of the First District Court of Appeal. <u>Washington v.</u> <u>State</u>, 732 So.2d 1225 (Fla. 1st DCA June 9, 1999).

Petitioner, Shawn Washington, was convicted at jury trial of possession of cocaine and cannabis. Trial proceedings were held in Leon County before Circuit Judge J. Lewis Hall, Jr.

The one-volume record on appeal will be referred to as "R," and the one-volume trial transcript as "T."

This brief is typed in Courier New 12.

-1-

## II STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Petitioner, Shawn Washington, was charged on December 2, 1996, in Leon County, with possession of cannabis with intent to sell and possession of crack cocaine (R 7). The information was amended the day of trial to charge possession with intent to sell as to both (R 10).

Trial was held January 31, 1997, two months after the information was filed. Just before trial before Judge Hall, Washington moved in limine to preclude evidence that Officer Perry is an expert in street narcotics, or to allow him to draw a correlation between Washington carrying a large amount of cash (\$841) and narcotics, or that the area of 2525 Texas Street, Tallahassee, has "experienced a wave of shootings, fights, narcotics sales and other criminal activities" (R 38-39). The court refused to hear the motion pretrial on the ground it was untimely filed. Defense counsel explained the case had just been reassigned to him, and he filed the motion the day after assigned (T 5-7).

Petitioner's motions for judgment of acquittal were denied (T 78-79,90). Petitioner's requested special jury instructions:

The state must prove beyond and to the exclusion of every reasonable doubt that at the time of arrest the defendant knew of the illicit nature of the content of the retrieved bag.

A suspect's mere presence at a scene of a crime even with knowledge of the crime, and flight therefor [sic] alone is insufficient evidence to support guilt.

-2-

were denied (R 12). The judge said the points were covered by the standard instructions, and the first might constitute a comment on the evidence (T 91-92). On both counts, the jury found Washington guilty of the lesser-included offense of simple possession (R 34-36).

December 16, 1997, Washington was sentenced to 365 days in jail, concurrent, with credit for time served of 365 days (R 43-49). No defense attorney was present, nor did the judge inquire as to whether Washington wanted counsel (R 70). A motion for new trial was filed, but not ruled on, possibly because no defense counsel was present at sentencing.

The district court found the notice of appeal (R 56) was timely filed.

On appeal, the district court affirmed per curiam, citing three cases: <u>Baskin v. State</u>, 732 So.2d 1179 (Fla. 1st DCA 1999); <u>Leaks v. State</u>, 23 Fla. L. Weekly D1997, \_\_\_\_\_ So.2d \_\_\_\_\_ (Fla. 2d DCA Aug. 26, 1998); <u>Scott</u>, <u>infra</u>.

-3-

## III STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Over objection, Tallahassee Police Officer Chuck Perry testified he had made 2500 to 3000 drug-related arrests and had witnessed 4 to 5 times that many sales (T 26). Perry testified over objection as to how to distinguish crack cocaine for personal use from that for sale: a seller won't have paraphernalia on him; he will have a larger amount - an average of 3 grams - and depending on how much they've sold, anywhere from \$50 on up. For personal consumption, the person usually has a "dime rock," a very small size (T 27-28). Crack costs about \$100 a gram (T 28).

Perry has twice testified as an expert in the area of "street-level narcotics" (T 29). The defense objected to declaring Perry such an expert; the judge would not declare him to be an expert, because that would be a comment on the evidence (T 30). The prosecutor wanted Perry say that a large amount of cash found with drugs indicate sale; the court would not permit it (T 30-32). The defense objected to allowing the officer even to mention how much cash petitioner, Shawn Washington, had; the court overruled the objection (T 32-33).

On August 22, 1996, Perry was in a "position of concealment" on the 2500 block of Texas Street (T 33,35):

We were there specifically for the sale of illegal narcotics. We had received information and I had crawled through the bushes with another officer. . .

(T 34). Washington moved to strike the testimony that Perry had received information on the ground it was hearsay; the

-4-

motion was denied (T 34). Perry testified he was in bushes about 20 feet from Washington, who was sitting on a guardrail (T 36-37).

A car stopped, and Washington - an amputee - hobbled up to the driver's side window and conversed with the driver:

At that point, he walked back to the rail where he had been sitting, he reached into the bushes, retrieved a brown paper bag, reached into the. . .bag, took out a dime bag of cannabis, put the bag back in the bushes, and walked over to the driver's window. . . At that point, he exchanged the bag for money.

(T 38-39,56). Based on his experience, Perry suspected cannabis because it was an inch by inch bag containing a dark leafy material. Two other people were near Washington at the rail. All three walked away when police cars drove up (T 39-40).

Perry got out of the bushes, went right to where Washington had been, reached into the bushes and pulled out the paper bag. Perry admitted another man was also sitting on the rail making drug sales. The prosecutor asked if that man had drugs on him, or did he also hide them. The defense objected to the leading question, and the court overruled it (T 40). The other man had pulled a pill bottle out of the bushes and sold a piece of crack (T 41).

The paper bag contained four dime bags of marijuana and 9 pieces of crack in two plastic bags (3 in one; 6 in the other) (T 42-43). The defense stipulated that the substances were cocaine and cannabis. Over objection, Perry testified that Washington had \$841 in cash on him (T 45). The following

-5-

## colloquy occurred:

Q: Officer, based on the items that you seized from the defendant and the money that you found with him, the large amount of cash, did you make a determination as to whether or not these drugs that you had taken were for personal consumption or for sale?

MR. OSHO [defense counsel]: Your Honor --THE COURT: Sustained. That's sustained.

BY MR. SCHULTE [prosecutor]: Officer, based on your experience, is it common to find individuals with large amounts of money with drugs on them that is for sale, as opposed to personal consumption.

A: Yes.

## (T 46).

Over objection, Perry testified that the 2.4 grams of crack in the bag would be worth about \$240, and such an amount would be for sale (T 47). Over objection, Perry testified that someone who was using crack would have a small rock - a dime rock - while someone who was selling would have a large one - a \$20 rock; these were \$20 rocks (T 48). Over objection, Perry testified it was his decision to charge possession with intent to sell (T 50).

Asked if it was common to find "miscellaneous crack" or marijuana lying on the ground, Perry said:

I would say the crack is more valuable than gold. And with people who are addicted to it, it's just not going to be left around. I've never found any just laying around[,]

in his 8 years with the COP [Community Oriented Police] squad (T 50).

On cross, Perry admitted that a person could buy, rather

-6-

than sell, \$20 rocks (T 52-53). Three people were arrested in this incident, for which Perry wrote a single report. Perry said his written report mixed up the acts of D#1 (Washington) with those of D#2, but claimed his trial testimony was accurate (T 44-45,57-58). Perry admitted that less than 20 grams of marijuana is usually categorized as "possession," and the marijuana here weighed 9 grams (T 63).

FDLE lab analyst George Barrow was not able to develop any latent fingerprints from the plastic bags. He was able to develop one print from the brown paper bag, which he was unable to match to Washington, or to three other people identified to him (T 71-72).

For the defense, Shawn's mother, Caroline Washington, testified that she had given him \$900 cash to paint his car. Shawn is disabled and unable to work (T 83). On cross, Ms. Washington said she was not sure of the date she gave him the money, but it was sometime in August (T 83-84). The money came from two settlements, one from an insurance company for the death of another son (T 86).

On rebuttal, Perry testified that, when arrested, Shawn said the cash was his disability money. He did not say his mother had given it to him (T 87).

#### IV SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Issue I: In Scott, the Fifth District incorrectly inter-

-7-

prets this court's decision in <u>Chicone</u> as creating a rebuttable presumption that an accused was aware of the illicit nature of contraband when the state offers proof of the prohibited act here, possession. <u>Scott</u> incorrectly interprets <u>Chicone</u> to place on the accused the burden of explaining how he was unaware of the illicit nature in order to overcome the presumption and receive the Chicone knowledge instruction.

<u>Scott</u> incorrectly applied a harmless error analysis where the accused was unaware of the presence of the controlled substance and requests a <u>Chicone</u> jury instruction, but does not challenge the illicit nature of the controlled substance.

Issue II: The trial court erred reversibly in allowing Officer Perry to testify as to how to distinguish a drug seller from a drug user, and the error was not harmless. This court has said:

Testimony concerning past crimes that did not involve the defendant cannot be intro-duced to demonstrate that the defendant committed the crimes...in the present case. Nowtizke, infra. The Fourth District has put it thus:

[E]very defendant has the right to be tried based on the evidence against him, not on the characteristics or conduct of certain classes of criminals in general.

<u>Wheeler</u>, <u>infra</u>. The only purpose of such general behavior evidence "is to place prejudicial and misleading inferences in front of the jury." <u>Id.</u>

V ARGUMENT

## <u>issue i</u>

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED REVERSIBLY IN FAILING TO GIVE A

REQUESTED JURY INSTRUCTION ON THE ESSENTIAL ELEMENT OF KNOWLEDGE OF THE ILLI-CIT NATURE OF THE CONTRABAND.

In <u>Scott</u>, a 4-1-4 decision on rehearing en banc, the Fifth District incorrectly interprets this court's decision in <u>Chi-</u> <u>cone</u> as creating a rebuttable presumption that an accused was aware of the illicit nature of contraband when the state offers proof of the prohibited act - possession, in the instant case. <u>Chicone v. State</u>, 684 So.2d 736 (Fla. 1996); <u>Scott v. State</u>, 722 So.2d 256 (Fla. 5th DCA 1998) (*on rehearing en banc*), <u>review</u> <u>granted</u>, 729 So.2d 394 (Fla. April 4, 1999). In the instant case, the district court affirmed per curiam, citing <u>Scott</u>.

<u>Scott</u> incorrectly interprets <u>Chicone</u> to place on the accused the burden of explaining how he was unaware of the illicit nature in order to overcome the presumption and receive the <u>Chicone</u> instruction. <u>Scott</u> also incorrectly applied a harmless error analysis where the accused was unaware of the presence of the controlled substance and requests a <u>Chicone</u> instruction, but does not challenge the illicit nature of the substance.

In <u>Chicone</u>, this court held that knowledge of the illicit nature of the contraband is an element of drug offenses, and the jury should be so instructed upon request by the defendant. In <u>Scott</u>, the Fifth District certified the following questions:

Does the illegal possession of a controlled substance raise a rebuttable presumption (or inference) that the defendant had know-ledge of its illicit nature?

If so, if the defendant fails to raise the issue that he was unaware of the illicit nature of the

-9-

substance, is he nevertheless entitled to a <u>Chicone</u> instruction?

Can the failure to give the requested instruction be harmless error?

In <u>Chicone</u>, this court held that, while it is not an express element of any drug crime, knowledge is an implicit element of all such crimes; and the standard jury instruction was deficient for failing to define it for the jury. 684 So.2d at 738 et seq.

Inter alia, this court said:

We are also influenced by the fact that "[t]he existence of a mens rea is the rule of, rather than the exception to, the principles of Anglo-American criminal jurisprudence."

<u>Id.</u> at 743, quoting <u>Dennis v. United States</u>, 341 U.S. 494, 500, 71 S.Ct. 857, 862, 95 L.Ed. 1137 (1951).

This court called Judge Cowart's opinion in <u>State v. Oxx</u>, 417 So.2d 287 (Fla. 5th DCA 1982), "perhaps the most comprehensive discussion of the issue." <u>Chicone</u>, 684 So.2d at 740. The issue in <u>Oxx</u> was whether a statute prohibiting possession of contraband in a county detention facility was unconstitutional due to the lack of a scienter element. The Fifth District held the constitutional issue was mooted because guilty knowledge was an element. The court said:

. . .the trial court held that the failure of the statute to expressly require mens rea or scienter made unknowing possession a criminal offense. This is not correct. Knowledge of possession is generally consi-dered a part of the definition of posses-sion as used in criminal statutes making possession a crime. Section 893.13, Florida Statutes (1981), prohibiting the actual or constructive possession of a controlled substance, and its predecessors, have

-10-

never specifically required "knowing" possession, yet possession has always been defined to include knowledge. . . A similar construction has been placed on other criminal pos-session statutes. Although the legislature may punish an act without regard to any particular (specific) intent, the State must still prove general intent, that is, that the defendant intended to do the act prohibited.

Proof of an act does raise a presumption that it was knowingly and intentionally done. However, there is a distinction in presuming knowledge from actual possession and from constructive possession in that the State can make out a prima facie case of knowledge by proof of actual or exclu-sive constructive possession, but proof of nonexclusive constructive possession alone is insufficient to justify an implication of knowledge. In the latter situation, the State must present some corroborating evi-dence of knowledge to establish a prima facie case. (emphasis added)

In summary, the statute. . .is constitu-tional. Further, possession in the context of this statute means possession and know-ledge of the same, and [Oxx'] knowledge (or lack of knowledge) of his possession is, subject to an appropriate instruction, an issue for the jury.

<u>Chicone</u>, 684 So.2d at 741, quoting <u>Oxx</u>, 417 So.2d at 290-91

(footnotes omitted). The supreme court added:

We concur in what we perceive to be the essential thrust of the <u>Oxx</u> opinion, that "guilty knowledge" must be established in a simple drug possession case.

Chicone, 684 So.2d at 741.

Petitioner, Shawn Washington, requested the following

special jury instruction:

The state must prove beyond and to the exclusion of every reasonable doubt that at the time of arrest the defendant knew of the illicit nature of the content of the retrieved bag[,]

citing <u>Chicone</u>; <u>State v. Dominguez</u>, 509 So.2d 917 (Fla. 1987); and <u>State v. Medlin</u>, 273 So.2d 394 (Fla. 1973) (R 12). The court refused to give the special instruction, ruling the subject was adequately covered by the standard jury instruction and might constitute a comment on the evidence (T 91-92).

Instead, the jury below was instructed as follows:

First, Shawn Washington possessed a certain substance. Element two, the substance was cannabis in Count I and the substance was crack cocaine in Count II. Element three, Shawn Washington had knowledge of the presence of the substance.

(T 128-29). The court gave an even more abbreviated instruc-

tion on simple possession:

That offense is the same as the possession of the controlled substance with the intent to sell upon which I have previously in-structed you except that it does not con-tain the element of intent to sell. Other than that, they are the same. Possession, knowledge of the presence of the substance, and that the cannabis or crack cocaine was a controlled substance.

(T 130).

Of an instruction virtually identical to the first, this court said in <u>Chicone</u>, 684 So.2d at 745-46:

While the existing jury instructions are adequate in requiring "knowledge of the presence of the substance," we agree that, if specifically requested by a defendant, the trial court should expressly indicate to jurors that guilty knowledge means the defendant must have knowledge of the illi-cit nature of the substance allegedly pos-sessed. We hold that the defendant was entitled to a more specific instruction as requested here. (footnote omitted)

It was no less error here for the trial court to refuse to give an instruction which correctly stated the law - that knowledge of the illicit nature is an element of both offenses charged.

In the district court below, the state conceded it was error to deny Washington's requested jury instruction that the

-12-

illicit nature of the substance was an element of the offense, but argued the error was harmless. According to the state, the error was harmless because Washington's defense was that the officer misidentified him, and a different person was involved with the paper bag containing drugs. Similar to the Fifth District's reasoning in <u>Scott</u>, the state argued that, because Washington did not claim ignorance of the illicit nature of the drug, he was not entitled to the jury instruction.

In <u>Scott</u>, the defendant claimed to be unaware that marijuana was concealed in his eyeglass case inside his locker in prison. The Fifth District relied on the fact that Scott's defense was that he did not knowingly possess the substance, rather than that he did not know of its illicit nature. This is similar to the instant case, where Washington claimed not to possess the bag, rather than that he did not know of the illicit nature of its contents.

Petitioner contends that <u>Scott</u> is rooted in faulty logic. In his motion for rehearing, Scott argued the court had misapprehended that illicit nature was an element of the crime - for which the burden of proof was on the state - and had instead treated it as an affirmative defense - for which the burden was on the defendant. That is, Scott contended the **state** was obliged to prove he knew of the illicit nature, rather than his being obliged to prove he did not, as would be the case if it were an affirmative defense. <u>Id.</u>

According to Scott, this court held in Medlin, supra:

-13-

. . .proof that the defendant committed the prohibited act (delivery of a controlled substance) raised a rebuttable presumption that the defendant was aware of the nature of the drug delivered.

722 So.2d at 258. The court continued:

. ..[a]lthough <u>Chicone</u> places the burden of proof on the state to prove knowledge of the illicit nature of the contraband, it does not, at least expressly, overrule the <u>Medlin</u> presumption.

Id. Therefore, the court concluded:

it appears that the defendant has the bur-den of going forward with an explanation as to why he was unaware of the illicit nature of the substance (man, I don't know what cannabis looks like) in order to overcome this presumption.

<u>Id.</u> The court compared the defendant's duty to explain his ignorance of illicit nature as "not unlike one found in possession of recently stolen property who must explain why he did not know the property was stolen." <u>Id.</u>

This reasoning does not withstand analysis. First, the stolen property presumption was created by statute; there is no comparable legislative statement on this issue. While the legislature might have the authority - within constitutional limits - to provide that possession of stolen property is presumed to be with knowledge of the theft unless the defendant explains otherwise, there is no comparable right of the court to relieve the state of its obligation to prove each and every element of a crime.

According to <u>Scott</u>, a trial court need not instruct on illicit nature unless the defendant specifically denies knowledge of illicit nature. Denying knowledge of illicit nature

-14-

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