IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SHAWN WASHINGTON,

Petitioner,

V.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

CASE NO. 96,028

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

JAMES W. ROGERS
TALLAHASSEE BUREAU CHIEF,
CRIMINAL APPEALS
FLORIDA BAR NO. 325791

VERONICA S. MCCRACKIN ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 0049298

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300 Ext. 4601

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Respondent, the State of Florida, the Appellee in the District Court of Appeal (DCA) and the prosecuting authority in the trial court, will be referenced in this brief as Respondent, the prosecution, or the State. Petitioner, SHAWN WASHINGTON, the Appellant in the DCA and the defendant in the trial court, will be referenced in this brief as Petitioner or by proper name.

The record on appeal consists of four volumes, which will be referenced according to the respective number designated in the Index to the Record on Appeal, followed by any appropriate page number. "IB" will designate Petitioner's Initial Brief, followed by any appropriate page number.

All emphasis through bold lettering is supplied unless the contrary is indicated.

CERTIFICATE OF FONT AND TYPE SIZE

Counsel certifies that this brief was typed using Courier New 12.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The State agrees with Respondent's statement of the case and facts.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

ISSUE I.

The trial court did not abuse its discretion by refusing petitioner's request for a jury instruction on guilty knowledge when the standard jury instruction was adequate and the current standard jury instructions are discretionary regarding whether a more specific knowledge instruction is necessary. Even if this Court finds that the trial courts election was error, it was harmless. The error was harmless because: (1) the jury instruction was adequate; (2) the current jury instructions are discretionary, regarding whether a more specific knowledge instruction is required and (3) petitioner's defense was not based on a lack of knowledge about the illicit nature of the substance but rather based on misidentification. Thus, petitioner has failed to demonstrate how the standard jury instructions were prejudicial.

ISSUE II.

The trial court did not commit reversible error in allowing the officer to testify that a drug seller would not have paraphernalia on him, that a seller would have a larger amount of drugs than for personal use and that a seller would have at least fifty dollars cash on him. Because appellant was convicted of the lesser included offense of possession of a controlled substance, any error in allowing the officer's testimony could not have affected the jury's verdict. The jury rejected the

State's contention and the officer's testimony indicating that the appellant possessed the drugs with intent to sell them.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

DID THE TRIAL COURT ABUSE IS DISCRETION BY DENYING APPELLANT REQUEST FOR JURY INSTRUCTION ON GUILTY KNOWLEDGE WHEN THE STANDARD JURY INSTRUCTION WAS ADEQUATE AND IF THE COURT'S ELECTION WAS ERROR, IT WAS HARMLESS? (Restated)

Facts

Before trial, petitioner filed a request for a special jury instruction which read as follows:

The State must prove beyond and to the exclusion of every reasonable doubt that at the time of arrest the Defendant knew of the illicit nature of the content of the retrieved bag. <u>State v. Dominguez</u>, 509 So.2d 917 (Fla. 1987); <u>State v. Medlin</u>, 273 So.2d 394 (Fla. 1973); <u>Chicone v. State</u>, 21 FLW S 458 (Fla. 1996).

(R. 12). At the charge conference, the trial court stated that the defense counsel could argue that petitioner had not known that the substance was drugs but denied appellant's requested instruction because he believed it was "adequately covered by the standard jury instruction." (T. 91-92).

The police officer testified that on the night in question, he watched the defendant while concealed in bushes from twenty feet away. (T. 37). A white car stopped and the defendant "hobbled" to the driver's side window and talked to the driver. (T. 39). The defendant then walked back to where he had been standing, reached into the bushes, retrieved a brown paper bag, reached into the paper bag and took out a dime bag of cannabis. (T. 39). The defendant then put the bag back into the bushes and walked over to the driver's window of the car. The defendant exchanged the dime bag for money. (T. 39). Another person who was

standing near petitioner made a drug sale while the officer was observing by retrieving a pill bottle from a different bush and selling a piece of crack cocaine. (T 41). After petitioner walked away to watch an accident that occurred nearby, the officer retrieved appellant's brown paper bag. (T. 40). The bag contained four dime bags of cannabis and nine pieces of crack cocaine. (T. 42).

On cross-examination, defense counsel asked the officer about his police report. The officer acknowledged that his report said that "D-1", petitioner, had gone out to the car and conversed with the driver and then the report stated that "D-2", who was not petitioner, retrieved the bag from the bushes and gave the drugs to the driver. (T. 56-57). The officer testified that this was a mistake - that the report should have indicated that "D-1", petitioner, had retrieved the bag and sold the drugs to the driver. The officer testified that he had corrected the mistake by contacting the State Attorney's office. (T. 44, 57). The officer testified that although he was permitted to file a supplementary report, he had not done so. (T. 59).

Standard of Review

Trial judges have broad discretion regarding jury instructions, and the appellate courts will not reverse a decision regarding an instruction in the absence of prejudicial error that would result in the miscarriage of justice. Shepard v. State, 659 So. 2d 457, 459 (Fla. 1995). A trial court's decision on the giving or withholding of a proposed jury instruction is

reviewed under the abuse of discretion standard of review. Pozo v. State, 682 So.2d 1124, 1126 (Fla. 1st DCA 1996); Bozeman v. State, 714 So. 2d 570. (Fla. 1st DCA 1998); Booker v. State, 514 So. 2d 1079, 1085 (Fla. 1987) (defining "abuse of discretion" -- discretion is abused only where no reasonable man could take view adopted by the trial court.)

Preservation

Appellant preserved the issue within the meaning of 924.051(1)(b), Fla. Stat. (1997).

<u>Merits</u>

At issue is whether this Court's decision in Chicone v. State, 684 So. 2d 736 (Fla. 1996) established a per se rule that upon a defendant's request the court must grant the requested guilty knowledge instruction regardless of whether the defendant asserts a lack of knowledge as a defense and regardless of whether the standard jury instructions are adequate. It is the State's position that the trial court did not abuse its discretion by denying Appellant's requested instruction because the standard jury instruction was adequate and a more specific knowledge instruction is discretionary and contingent upon the "defense seeking to show a lack of knowledge as to the nature of particular drug." See, Fla. Std. Jury Instr. (Criminal), Drug Abuse-Possession F.S. 893.13(1)(f).

A source of the confusion, is that typically a requested jury instruction is contingent upon an Appellant's defense. In Chicone v. State, 684 So. 2d 736 (Fla. 1996), this Court has

ruled that the guilty knowledge jury instruction is actually an element of the State's case, an element of the crime.

We hold that guilty knowledge is an element of possession of a controlled substance under section 893.13(1)(f), Florida Statutes, (1991), and possession of drug paraphernalia under section 893.147(1), Florida Statutes (1995).

<u>Id</u>. at 737. At the same time, this Court has ruled that standard jury instructions are adequate but suggests that the court should grant the guilty knowledge instruction if requested.

While the existing jury instructions are adequate in requiring 'knowledge of the presence of the substance,' we agree that, if specifically requested by a defendant, the trial court should expressly indicate to jurors that guilty knowledge means the defendant must have knowledge of the illicit nature of the substance allegedly possessed. We hold that the defendant was entitled to a more specific instruction as requested.

Id. at 745-746.

It is the State's position that if the current instruction is adequate, then there is no abuse of discretion by the trial court denying the requested instruction. If this instruction is critical to informing the jury, then it should be or should have been incorporated into the standard jury instructions. See, Chicone supra, footnote 14,

This is an appropriate subject to be address by the Committee on Standard Jury Instructions in Criminal Cases. In fact, the current instructions, by a Note to Judge, already suggest that more specific instructions on knowledge or lack of knowledge may be required if the defendant raises the issue as to the nature of a particular drug. Further, consistent with Medlin, the present instructions also note the inference of knowledge that may appropriately be drawn in cases of actual possession.

In 1997 the Committee on Standard Jury Instructions amended the instruction for trafficking. See, Standard Jury Instructions In Criminal Cases, 697 So. 2d 84 (Fla. 1997). The <u>Chicone</u> decision or guilty knowledge instruction was expressly included under the Definitions section for Trafficking in Cocaine, F.S.

893.135(1)(b), and reads as follows:

Give if applicable See Chicone v. State, 684 So. 2d 736 (Fla. 1996)

IF a thing is in a place over which the person does not have control, in order to establish constructive possession the State must prove the person's (1) control over the thing, (2) knowledge that the thing was within the person's presence and (3) knowledge of the illicit nature of the thing.

Fla. Std. Jury Instr. (Criminal). The current standard jury instruction on possession, reads as follows:

Before you can find that defendant guilty of (crime charged), the State must prove the following three elements beyond a reasonable doubt.

- 1. (Defendant) possessed a certain substance.
- 2. The substance was (specific substance alleged).
- 3. (Defendant) had knowledge of the presence of the substance.

The instruction also includes Notes to Judge and read as follows:

1. IF the defense seeks to show a lack of knowledge as to the nature of a particular drug, an additional instruction may be required. See, State v. Medlin, 273 So. 2d 394 (Fla. 1973).

It is clear from the standard jury instructions on possession that a more specific jury instruction on knowledge is discretionary and contingent upon the defense raising the issue of "a lack of knowledge" about the illicit nature of the substance. Accordingly, the Fifth District Court of Appeals decision in Scott v. State, 722 So. 2d 256 (Fla. 5th DCA 1998) (on

rehearing en banc), review granted, 729 So. 2d 394 (Fla. April 4, 1999) was not erroneous on this point. The decision to deny the instruction because the defendant in Scott did not raise the illicit nature of the substance as a defense was consistent with the jury instruction, as was the instant case. The guilty knowledge instruction should not be contingent upon whether petitioner request the instruction or not. The Chicone decision is illogical in this aspect. Otherwise, the effect of the Chicone decision is a per se rule that the trial court must always grant such an instruction if requested. A trial court's election not to do so, would be error.

Even if this court finds that the trial court's election to deny the requested jury instruction was error, it is the State's position that it was harmless error. The trial court was correct to find that the jury instruction was adequate and to likewise consider the Appellant's defense in determining whether to grant or deny the requested jury instruction. The standard jury instructions adequately informed the jury about the element of knowledge in a simple possession case. The current jury instructions are discretionary as to whether the trial court should give a more specific instruction on knowledge.

Furthermore, Appellant's defense was not that he did not know the illicit nature of the substance but rather the police officer apprehended the wrong man. But See, Oliver v. State, 707 So. 2d 771 (Fla. 2d DCA 1998) (The Second District Court of Appeals found that the error could not be deemed harmless where a lack of

guilty knowledge was the primary defense) Accord , Lambert v.

State, 728 So. 2d 1189 (Fla. 2d DCA 1999); See, State v. Delva,

575 So. 2d 643 (Fla. 1991) (failure to instruct on knowledge of
the substance was not fundamental error); Ryals v. State, 716 So.
2d 313 (Fla. 4th DCA 1998) (failure to instruct on knowledge
element was harmless error); Scott v. State, 722 So. 2d 256 (Fla.
5th DCA 1998). Thus, petitioner has failed to demonstrate how he
was prejudiced by the trial court's election to use the standard
jury instructions.

As this Court held in, State v. Medlin, 273 So. 2d 394 (Fla. 1973), proof that the defendant committed the prohibited act (delivery of a controlled substance) raised a rebuttable presumption that the defendant was aware of the nature of the drug delivered, and Chicone, supra did not expressly overrule this proposition. Appellant contends that Chicone decision receded from Medlin. Chicone in no way altered the fact that the State has a presumption of knowledge based on the prohibited act. Except that such a presumption does not exist when there is nonexclusive constructive possession. As this Court's Chicone opinion illustrated when it cited State v. Oxx, 417 So. 2d 287 (Fla. 5th DCA 1982),

Proof of an act does raise a presumption that it was knowingly and intentionally done. However, there is a distinction in presuming knowledge from actual possession and from constructive possession in that the State can make out a prima facie case of knowledge of proof of actual or exclusive constructive possession, but proof of non exclusive constructive possession alone is insufficient to justify an implication knowledge. In the latter situation, the State must

present some corroborating evidence of knowledge to establish a prima facie case.

Id. at 741. (Emphasis added)

This presumption must remain valid, because without the jury being able to infer that a defendant was aware of the illicit nature of the substance form the fact that he knowingly possessed the illicit substance, the State would rarely be able to independently prove that the defendant knew the illicit nature of the substance in a simple possession case. Accordingly, this Court should affirm.

ISSUE II

DID THE TRIAL COURT COMMIT REVERSIBLE ERROR BY ALLOWING THE POLICE OFFICER TO TESTIFY TO THE HABITS OF DRUG DEALERS AS OPPOSED TO DRUG USERS WHEN PETITIONER WAS CONVICTED OF THE LESSER INCLUDED OFFENSE OF POSSESSION OF A CONTROLLED SUBSTANCE? (Restated)

Facts

Petitioner was charged with two counts of possession of a controlled substance with intent to sell. (R. 10). The jury found petitioner guilty of two counts of the lesser include offense of possession of a controlled substance. (R. 34-37).

Petitioner filed a motion in limine to prevent the state from "all argument, testimony or evidence that Officer Chuck Perry is an expert in street narcotics, and or that the area of 2525 Texas Street has experienced a wave of shooting, fights, narcotic sales and other criminal activities." (R. 38). Petitioner asked that the State be prohibited from attempting to have the officer "draw a correlation between carrying large amounts of cash and selling narcotics". (R. 38).

The police officer testified that he had seized a brown paper bag containing four dime bags of cannabis and nine pieces of crack cocaine. (T. 42). The crack cocaine weighed 2.4 grams. (T. 47). The officer testified that when he stopped the petitioner, he had \$841 in his pocket. (T. 45).

The officer had previously made 2,500 to 3,000 drug related arrests and had witnessed four to five times as many drug sales. (T. 26). The officer testified that a person who is selling crack cocaine would usually not have any paraphernalia on them

and they would have a larger amount of drugs. (T. 27-28). A person possessing drugs for personal consumption would usually have a dime rock or a twenty dollar size piece of crack. 28). The trial court refused to let the officer testify that in his opinion the large amount of cash along with the drugs meant the appellant was dealing drugs. (T. 31, 46). The officer agreed that based on his experience, it is common "to find individuals with large amounts of money with drugs on them that is for sale, as opposed to personal consumption." (T. 46). officer testified that in his experience, a person having crack for personal consumption is usually going to have a small rock of cocaine. (T. 48). The officer testified that based on his observation of petitioner and the amount of drugs and money found on him, he decided to charge appellant with possession with intent to sell. (T. 50).

Standard of Review

This issue is governed by the abuse of discretion standard. See, Prescott v. State, 23 Fla. L. Wkly. D 1542 (Fla. 4th DCA June 24, 1998) (holding that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in "permitting a properly qualified witness to testify about whether drugs were intended for personal use or for sale based on the among and packaging of the drugs.")

Preservation

Petitioner preserved the issue for appeal within the meaning of \$924.051(1) (b), Fla. Stat. (1997).

<u>Merits</u>

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